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AUDLEY, is an irregular built village, seated on a commanding eminence, in the Union and 5 miles N.W. of Newcastle-under-Lyme.  Its parish contains 4474 inhabitants, and about 8100 acres of land, divided into seven townships, which support their poor conjointly, and of which the following is an enumeration, with the population of each in 1841:- Audley, 934; Bignall-End, 517; Eardley-End, 147; Halmer-End, 907; Knowl End, 270; Park-End, 88; Talk-o’th’-Hill, 1611.  In the parish there are several extensive coal mines, which give employment to a great number of the inhabitants.  For the conveyance of the coal, Sir Nigel Gresley’s canal was cut in 1775, from the mines in Apedale to Newcastle, and has since been extended to the Potteries.  Sir Thomas F.F. Boughey, Bart., of Aqualate Hall, is lord of the manor, and owner of a great part of the soil.  The manor of Audley, or Aldithley, anciently belonging to the family of Verdon, one of whom assumed the name of the place, in the reign of Henry III., and became the first Baron Audley, which title, after ten descents, passed, for want of male issue, to the Touchets, and is now enjoyed by George Edward Thicknesse Touchet, of Sandbridge Park, Wiltshire; but it is several centuries since his family ceased to possess the manor of Audley, where they had a castellated mansion, the site of which is now occupied by an orchard, enclosed within a circular fence.  They also possessed Heeley or Heyley Castle, the remains of which are situated on a lofty rock, about a mile S.E. of Audley.  Of this noble family were several distinguished warriors; the last of whom was James Lord Audley, who was slain at the Battle of Blore-heath, in 1459, and was buried at Derley Abbey, in Derbyshire; but to his memory there is a tomb-stone in Audley church, curiously inlaid with brass.  George Tollet, Esq., of Betley Hall, is impropriator of the great tithes, and J.E. Heathcote, Thomas Kinnersly, and J.S. Caldwell, Esqrs. have seats and estates in the parish.  The Rev. E. Gilbert is the patron of the vicarage, which is valued in K.B. at £6.13s. 4d., and now at £520.  The Rev. C.P. Wilbraham, B.A., is the vicar, and has a good Vicarage House, which was rebuilt in 1833, in the early English style.
The Church (St James,) is a fine Gothic structure, which was restored and partly rebuilt in 1846, at the cost of about £1500, and enlarged and newly seated in 1850, at the cost of £400.  Five of its windows have been enriched with stained glass, and the chancel floor laid with encaustic tiles.  The church has an organ, six bells, and a clock.  Here is a Wesleyan Chapel, built in 1810, and enlarged in 1838.  It has a large school, attended by about 130 day scholars.  The National School, rebuilt in 1850, is attended by 90 girls.  The BOYS’ FREE SCHOOL at Audley was founded by the Rev. Edward Vernon, and endowed by him with £120, and by William Johnson with £100.  In 1611, these sums were laid out in the purchase of 37a. 9p. of land, at Upper and Lower Tean, which in 1825 was exchanged for a compact farm of 36 acres, with a good house, lying close to Audley, and worth about £70 a year.  The school has also 15a. 1R. 39p. of land at Knutton, let for £40 a year, and purchased in 1671, with £160 left by John Stonier, Thomas Lovatt, and John Middleton; and a meadow in Ravenshall, 1A.2B.1P, let for £4. 4s., purchased in 1744, with £45 left by Dorothy Smith and others.  The endowment also includes the following yearly payments, viz. :- £5.10s. from land at Eardley End, and £4 as the interest of £100, left by Lady Bellot in 1754, making the total yearly income upwards of £120; but during the last ten years the trust has been in chancery, and the master has only received £50 a year.  It is expected that the suit will shortly be settled in his favour.  He is required to teach all the boys of the parish reading, writing and arithmetic.  He has the free use of the school-house, which was built by subscription, and has usually 80 free scholars.
BENEFACTIONS – The Parish Land, at Eardley-End, consists of 23 acres, purchased in 1723 with £385, of which £181 had been bequeathed in aid of the free school, and the remainder for the poor.  In 1641, John Unwin left £80, to be lent, free of interest, in sums of £10 each, to eight poor, but industrious young tradesmen of Audley parish.  The poor parishioners have the following yearly doles, viz:-16s. left by Wm. Abnet in 1628, out of a field called Upper Smith Hill; 20s. by Mary Dicken, out of Hollinwood; and 6s. out of Ravenshall meadow, left by John Viggers and Thomas Twiss.  The parish wake is on the first Sunday in August.

BIGNALL-END township has a number of scattered houses and cottages, one mile E. of Audley, and several collieries, worked by Sir T.F.F. Boughey and N.P.Wood, Esq., the later of whom has a pleasant seat here; near which is a monumental column, 90 feet high, in memory of the late John Wedgwood, Esq.

EARDLEY-END township commences one mile N. of Audley, and extends to the borders of Cheshire.

HALMER-END township, or liberty, comprises a number of scattered houses, and the village of ALSAGER’S BANK, consisting chiefly of cottages, and distant two miles S. by E. of Audley.  In this district are two chapels belonging to the Wesleyans, and one to the Independents; and APEDALE HALL, the seat of John Edensor Heathcote, Esq., who owns a large portion of the soil, and has large coal and iron works here.  (See Chesterton, page 289).

KNOWL-END township, one mile S.W. of Audley, has a number of straggling houses, and the hamlet of Shaley-brook.

PARK-END township, one mile S.W. of Audley.

AUDLEY

POST-OFFICE at Eliz. Dean’s.  Letters despatched 4½ in the afternoon, via Newcastle-under-Lyme.

Bebington John, watchmaker, &c.

Briscoe Josiah, revenue officer

Broad James, blacksmith

Davenport Wm. police officer

Davies Robert Evens, ironmonger,

(and at Tunstall)

Francis Rev.William.chaplain of Newcastle Union

Hall George, Free schoolmaster

Harrison Daniel, gentleman

Hilditch Thomas butcher, and Mr Jno

Maddox Mr Richard
Proctor John

Morris Benjamin, Wesleyan schoolmaster
Proctor Joseph, blacksmith

Rigby Robert, colliery agent

Smith Jane, National School

Sproson Thomas. plumber, painter, &c.

Steel William senior, nail maker

Vernon Richard, surgeon

Warburton Thomas John, and Salt Wm, surgeons

Weaver George ironmonger & nail mfr

Wilbraham Rev Charles Phillip, B.A. vicar

Williams John, higler

Inns and Taverns

Boughey’s Arms, (commercial,) John Harding, (and maltster)

Bull’s Head, Eliz. Procter

Butchers’ Arms, Samuel Hilditch, (and parish clerk and regr)

King’s Head, John Warham, (and plumber, glazier, and painter)

Red Lion, Edward Lawton

Boots and Shoemakers
Darlington Abel

Hilditch Charles
Hilditch John

Hilditch Thomas
Fox James

Harding John

Johnson Samuel

Jones John

Lewis Samuel

Richardson Samuel.

Rigby Robert

Rubotham William
Weaver George
White Martha, (& beerhouse)

White Joseph

Grocers & Dprs.

JOINERS, &c.

(* are wheelwrights.)

Brassington Charles

Hayes Charles.

*Malpass Ralph

*Procter Charles.

Ravenscroft Thomas (& cabinet.maker)

Shopkeepers

Henshall Charles
Procter Charles
Ravenscroft Thomas
Tailors

Emberton Joseph (and draper)

Hayes George

Procter John

Prophett Joseph

Williams Samuel
BIGNALL-END

Marked * are at Bond Hill, and + at Bignall Hill.
Boughey Sir. T.F.F. Bart, coal master;  Aqualate Hall
+Hares Thomas, engineer

*Hulse William, tailor

+Procter Ralph, whitesmith

+Riley William, shoemaker, and toll collector

Wood Nichlolas Price, Esq. coal owner, Bignall Hill House

Farmers

Betteley John
+Dean James

*Emberton John

*Jackson Farmer.

+Massey John

*Pool Peter

Tomkinson Arthur

Warburton Ralph.

Nail Makers.

*Brindley Charles

*Brindley Samuel
Brindley William
*Johnson Daniel
*Riley Isaac

*Steel William, junior
Shopkeepers
+Dean James

*Emberton John
Tailors

Emberton, Joseph (and draper)

Hayes, George

Procter, John

Prophett Joseph

Williams Samuel
